COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 401

JANUARY 1, 2022 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS	5
ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 3 - RECOGNITION AND NEGOTIATIONS	7
ARTICLE 4 - HUMAN RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 5 - UNION MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENT	
ARTICLE 6 - CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES	9
ARTICLE 7 - CORRESPONDENCE	9
ARTICLE 8 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 9 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT BARGAINING RELATIONS	
ARTICLE 10 - RESOLUTIONS AND REPORTS OF THE EMPLOYER	.12
ARTICLE 11 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 12 - ARBITRATION	.14
ARTICLE 13 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE	.15
ARTICLE 14 - SENIORITY	
ARTICLE 15 - PROMOTIONS AND STAFF CHANGES	
ARTICLE 16 - LAY-OFFS AND RECALLS	
ARTICLE 17 - HOURS OF WORK	
ARTICLE 18 - OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 19 - GENERAL HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 20 - VACATIONS	
ARTICLE 21 - SICK LEAVE	
ARTICLE 22 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 23 - PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES	
ARTICLE 24 - JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION	.29
ARTICLE 25 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	.30
ARTICLE 26 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	
ARTICLE 27 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	
ARTICLE 28 - JOB SECURITY	
ARTICLE 29 - UNIFORM AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE	
ARTICLE 30 - GENERAL CONDITIONS	
ARTICLE 31 - PRESENT CONDITIONS AND BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 32 - GENERAL	
ARTICLE 33 - TERM OF AGREEMENT	
SCHEDULE "A"	.36
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 1	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 2	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 3	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 4	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 5	
LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 1	
LETTED OF ACREMENT NO. 2	46

JOB DESCRIPTION – AQUATIC LEADER 3	49
JOB DESCRIPTION - AQUATIC COORDINATOR	
JOB DESCRIPTION – CASHIER	
JOB DESCRIPTION - HEAD LIFEGUARD/INSTRUCTOR	
JOB DESCRIPTION – LIFEGUARDS	
JOB DESCRIPTION - LIFEGUARD/INSTRUCTORS	58
JOB DESCRIPTION - RECREATION FACILITIES ATTENDANT	60
JOB DESCRIPTION - RECREATION FACILITIES LEAD HAND 1 & 2	62
JOB DESCRIPTION - RECREATION FACILITIES FOREMAN	65
JOB DESCRIPTION - SKATE PATROLLERS/PROGRAM ASSISTANT	68

BETWEEN:	THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY (hereinafter called the "Employer")
AND:	

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401

It is the purpose of both parties to this Agreement:

THIS AGREEMENT made this 11th day of March, 2022

- (a) To improve relations between the Employer and the Union and provide settled and just conditions of employment.
- (b) To recognize the mutual value of joint discussions and negotiations in all matters pertaining to working conditions, employment, service, etc.
- (c) To encourage efficiency in operations.
- (d) To promote the morale, well-being and security of all employees in the bargaining unit of the Union, and

It is now desirable that methods of bargaining and all matters pertaining to the working conditions of the employees be drawn up in a Collective Agreement.

(hereinafter called the "Union")

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS

1.01 Regular Full-Time Employee

A regular full-time employee is an employee who has completed the probationary period and who works the full-time hours of eight (8) hours per day five (5) days per week or forty (40) hours per week and twelve (12) months of the year. Regular full-time employees shall accumulate seniority on the number of hours worked.

1.02 Regular Part-Time Employee

(a) A regular part-time employee is one who works on a regularly scheduled basis of less than full-time hours per day or per week. Regular part-time employees shall accumulate seniority on the number of hours worked. All available hours shall be allocated on a seniority basis, provided the employee meets the qualifications of the position in which the hours are available.

Part-time employees who desire extra hours shall submit their names to the Employer, three (3) times per year, May 1st, August 1st, and December 1st, indicating in which positions they would like the extra hours. Such letter must also show the employee's qualifications for the above-mentioned positions.

(b) Benefit Entitlement

- (i) Effective January 1, 2017, regular part-time employees who work an average of thirty-five (35) hours per week or more during a six (6) month period of January 1st to June 30th or July 1st to December 31st, excluding periods in which a facility maintenance or emergency closure occurs, shall be entitled to benefits contained in the Collective Agreement with the exception of Long Term Disability Benefits. Employees who do not average thirty-five (35) hours per week during the above averaging periods shall be removed from the benefits program.
- (ii) Effective January 1, 2019, regular part-time employees who work an average of thirty (30) hours per week or more during a six (6) month period of January 1st to June 30th or July 1st to December 31st, excluding periods in which a facility maintenance or emergency closure occurs, shall be entitled to benefits contained in the Collective Agreement with the exception of Long Term Disability Benefits. Employees who do not average thirty (30) hours per week during the above averaging periods shall be removed from the benefits program.
- (iii) Periods in which a facility maintenance or emergency closure occurs shall be excluded from the averaging periods for the calculation of the qualifying period in (i) and (ii) above.
- (iv) Hours worked for the purpose of qualifying for benefits as provided for in (i) and (ii) are deemed to be actual hours worked.

(v) Regular part-time employees who work less than the average hours as set forth in (i) and (ii) above shall be entitled to benefits specifically enumerated elsewhere in this Collective Agreement.

(c) Long Term Disability for Regular Part-time Employees

Regular part-time employees who qualify for benefits under (i) or (ii) above shall be enrolled in the District of Port Hardy Long Term Disability Plan set forth in this Collective Agreement, subject to the Carrier terms and plan text. Regular part-time employees shall have the monthly premiums deducted from their paycheques, or where the regular part-time employee is impacted by a facility maintenance or emergency closure, they shall prepay the premiums through arrangements with the Employer on the first of each month during such closure where the employee does not have a paycheque to allow for a deduction to occur.

1.03 <u>Casual Employee</u>

A casual employee is one who works on a casual intermittent basis and is not scheduled to work on a regular basis. A casual employee shall accumulate seniority on the number of hours worked for the primary purpose of attaining a regular full-time or regular part-time position. Additionally, following the assignment of hours to regular part-time employees, any remaining hours shall be allocated on a seniority basis. A casual employee shall not be entitled to General Holidays or Vacation with pay but shall receive nine percent (9%) in lieu thereof in addition to their hourly rate of pay.

1.04 Probationary Period

Newly hired employees shall be considered on a probationary basis for a period of sixty (60) working days from date of hire.

1.05 <u>Seniority</u>

For the purposes of this Agreement, seniority shall be used for scheduling, promotions, staff changes, lay-off, permanent reduction of the work force, and recall, as set out in other provisions of this Agreement.

1.06 Length of Service

For the purposes of this Agreement the employees' service date shall be their date of achieving regular full-time/regular part-time status and shall be used for all service related benefits.

1.07 <u>Time Worked</u>

(a) For the purposes of this Clause, time worked for regular full-time employees includes sick leave, pregnancy, parental or family responsibility leave, bereavement leave, jury duty, vacation with pay, and any approved leaves of absence with pay.

(b) For the purposes of this Clause, time worked for regular part-time employees includes sick leave, pregnancy, parental or family responsibility leave, bereavement leave, jury duty and any approved leaves of absence with pay.

ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

2.01 <u>Management Rig</u>hts

The Union recognizes that it is the right of the Employer to exercise the regular and customary function of the Employer and to direct the working forces, subject to the terms of this Agreement. The question of whether any of these rights is limited by this Agreement shall be decided through the Grievance and Arbitration procedure.

2.02 No Discrimination

The Employer shall exercise its rights in a fair and reasonable manner. The Employer's rights shall not be used to direct the working force in a discriminatory manner. Nor shall these rights be used in a manner which would deprive any employee of their employment, except through just cause.

ARTICLE 3 - RECOGNITION AND NEGOTIATIONS

3.01 Bargaining Unit

The Employer recognizes the Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 401 as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining agent for all of its employees employed in the pool and arena and hereby agrees to negotiate with the Union, or any of its authorized committees, concerning all matters affecting the relationship between parties, aiming towards a peaceful and amicable settlement of any differences that may arise between them.

3.02 Work of the Bargaining Unit

Persons whose jobs (paid or unpaid) are not in the bargaining unit shall not work on any jobs which are included in the bargaining unit, except in cases mutually agreed upon in writing by the parties.

3.03 No Other Agreements

No employee shall be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer or their representative which may conflict with the terms of this Collective Agreement.

3.04 Right of Fair Representation

The Union shall have the right at any time to have the assistance of representatives of the Canadian Union of Public Employees or any other advisors when dealing or negotiating with the Employer. For the purpose of meetings, such representative(s)/advisor(s) shall have access to the Employer's premises in order to deal with any matters arising out of this Collective Agreement. The premises are to be defined as the Municipal office.

3.05 Union Officers and Committee Members

Union Officers and Committee Members shall be entitled to leave their work during working hours in order to carry out their functions under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the investigation and processing of grievances, attendance at meetings with the Employer, participation in negotiations and arbitration. Permission to leave work during working hours for such purposes shall first be obtained from the immediate supervisor. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. All time spent in performing such Union duties, including work performed on various committees, shall be considered as time worked.

Collective Agreement

- (a) The Employer will acquaint new employees being hired with the existence of a Union and issue them a copy of the Collective Agreement.
- (b) The Union and the Employer desire every employee to be familiar with the provisions of this Agreement and the employee's rights and obligations under it. Therefore, the Employer shall print sufficient copies of the Agreement within thirty (30) days of signing for distribution to each employee.

ARTICLE 4 - HUMAN RIGHTS

4.01 Employer Shall Not Discriminate

The Employer and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination exercised or practiced in relation to the enumerated categories in the Human Rights Code or because of any employee's Union activities.

4.02 <u>Personal Harassment</u>

- (a) All personnel have the right to work without personal harassment. Personal harassment includes any inappropriate conduct or comment by a person towards a worker that the person knew or reasonably ought to have known would cause that worker to be humiliated or intimidated, but:
- (b) Excludes any reasonable action taken by an Employer or supervisor relating to the management and direction of workers or the place of employment.

ARTICLE 5 - UNION MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENT

5.01 All Employees to be Members

Within one (1) week of the signing of this Agreement, all employees of the Employer shall, as a condition of employment, become and remain members in good standing of the Union, according to the constitution and by-laws of the Union. As a condition of employment, all new employees shall become and remain members in good standing of the Union within thirty (30) calendar days of employment.

ARTICLE 6 - CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES

6.01 Check-Off Payments

The Employer shall deduct from every employee any dues, initiation fees, or assessments levied by the Union on its members.

6.02 Deductions

Deductions shall be forwarded in one (1) cheque to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union not later than the fifteenth (15th) day of the following month for which the dues were levied. The cheque shall be accompanied by a list of the names, addresses, classifications and sex of employees for whose wages the deductions have been made together with the hours worked and the amounts deducted in each case. This list shall indicate promotions, demotions, hirings, lay-offs, transfers, recalls, resignations, retirements, deaths and other terminations of employment. A copy of this list shall be forwarded by the Employer to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 401.

6.03 Dues Receipt

At the same time that Income Tax (T-4) slips are made available, the Employer shall type on the amount of Union dues paid by each Union member in the previous year.

ARTICLE 7 - CORRESPONDENCE

7.01 <u>Correspondence</u>

All correspondence between the parties, arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto, shall pass to and from the Chief Administrative Officer of the Employer and the Unit Chairperson of the Union with an electronic copy to the Administrative Assistant of Union Local 401.

ARTICLE 8 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

8.01 Establishment of Committee

A Labour Management Committee shall be established consisting of up to three (3) representatives of the Union and up to three (3) representatives of the Employer. The Committee shall enjoy the full support of both parties in the interests of improved service to the public, and job security for the employees.

8.02 Function of Committee

The Committee shall concern itself with the following general matters:

- (a) Considering measures to improve relations between Employer and employees.
- (b) Improving and extending services to the public.
- (c) Promoting safety and sanitary practices.
- (d) Reviewing suggestions from employees, questions of working conditions and service (but not grievances concerned with service).
- (e) Correcting conditions causing grievances.

8.03 Meeting of Committee

The Committee shall meet when there are concerns about:

- (a) Safety or sanitary concerns.
- (b) Questions concerning working conditions.
- (c) To review conditions causing grievances.

Its members shall receive a notice and agenda of the meeting at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the meeting. Employees shall not suffer any loss of pay for time spent with this Committee. The meeting shall be held at a mutually agreeable time and place.

8.04 Chairperson of the Meeting

An Employer and a Union representative shall be designated as joint Chairpersons and shall alternate in presiding over meetings.

8.05 Minutes of Meeting

Minutes of each meeting of the Committee shall be prepared and signed by the joint Chairpersons as promptly as possible after the close of the meeting.

The Union, the CUPE Representative and the Employer shall each receive two (2) signed copies of the minutes within three (3) days following the meeting.

8.06 Jurisdiction of Committee

The Committee shall not have jurisdiction over wages, or any matter of collective bargaining, including the administration of this Collective Agreement.

The Committee shall not supersede the activities of any other committee of the Union or of the Employer and does not have the power to bind either the Union or its members or the Employer to any decisions or conclusions reached in their discussions. The Committee shall have the power to make recommendations to the Union and the Employer with respect to its discussions and conclusions.

It is agreed that discussion and recommendations are the Committee's only function.

ARTICLE 9 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT BARGAINING RELATIONS

9.01 Representatives

The Employer shall not bargain with or enter into any agreement with an employee or group of employees in the bargaining unit. No employees or group of employees shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Employer without proper authorization of the Union. In representing an employee or group of employees, an elected or appointed representative of the Union shall be the spokesperson.

In order that this may be carried out, the Union will supply the Employer with the names of its Officers. Likewise, the Employer shall supply the Union with a list of its Supervisory personnel with whom the Union may be required to transact business.

9.02 <u>Union Bargaining Committee</u>

A Union Bargaining Committee shall be elected or appointed and consist of not more than three (3) members of the Union. The Union will advise the Employer of the Union members of the Committee.

9.03 Function of Bargaining Committee

All matters pertaining to performance of work, operational problems, rates of pay, hours of work, collective bargaining, and other working conditions, shall be referred by the Union Bargaining Committee to the Employer for discussion and settlement.

9.04 Time Off For Meeting

Any representative of the Union or the Bargaining Committee, who is in the employ of the Employer, shall have the right to attend meetings held within working hours without loss of remuneration.

ARTICLE 10 - RESOLUTIONS AND REPORTS OF THE EMPLOYER

10.01 Employer Shall Notify Union

Any reports or recommendations about to be made to the regular meeting of Council dealing with matters of policy and/or conditions of employment and which affect employees within this bargaining unit, shall be communicated by the Employer to the Union in time to afford the Union a reasonable opportunity to consider them.

ARTICLE 11 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

11.01 Recognition of Union Stewards and Grievance Committee

In order to provide an orderly and speedy procedure for the settling of grievances, the Employer acknowledges the rights and duties of the Union Grievance Committee and the Union Stewards. The Steward may assist any employee which the Steward represents, in preparing and presenting their grievance in accordance with the Grievance Procedure.

11.02 Names of Stewards

The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of the name of the Steward, before the Employer shall be required to recognize the Steward.

11.03 Grievance Committee

The Grievance Committee shall be composed of the President, the Vice-President and the 2^{nd} Vice-President from Port Hardy District of the Union plus the Steward directly involved with the grievance.

11.04 Permission to Leave Work

The Employer agrees that Stewards shall not be hindered, coerced, restrained or interfered with in any way in the performance of their duties, while investigating disputes and presenting adjustments as provided in this Article. The Union recognizes that each Steward is employed by the Employer and that they should not leave their work during working hours except to perform their duties under this Agreement. Therefore, no Steward shall leave their work without obtaining the permission of their Supervisor, which permission shall be given within one (1) hour.

11.05 Definition of Grievance

A grievance shall be defined as any difference arising out of the interpretation, application, administration, or alleged violation of the Collective Agreement or a case where the Employer has acted unjustly, improperly, or unreasonably.

11.06 Settling of Grievances

Should any difference arise between the persons bound by this Agreement concerning its interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation thereof, there shall be no stoppage of work on account of such a difference. The employee(s) shall, along with their Steward, within twenty (20) working days of gaining knowledge of such misinterpretation, misapplication, mis-operation or alleged violation attempt to settle the matter in the following manner:

Step 1

The grievance shall be stated in writing and submitted to the Department Head. The Department Head shall meet with the employee and Union Steward within five (5) days of receipt of the grievance. The parties will have a further three (3) working days to make an investigation and bring about a settlement.

Step 2

Should the parties be unable to settle the matter under Step 1, the grievance shall be submitted to the Grievance Committee of the Employer within five (5) working days. A hearing shall be conducted with the aggrieved employee, the Grievance Committee of the Union and the Employer. The Employer shall respond in writing within five (5) working days.

Step 3

If a settlement is not reached under Step 2, the grievance shall be submitted to the Mayor within five (5) working days of receipt of response under Step 2. A hearing shall be held with the Union Steward, the employee and the Mayor. The Mayor shall respond in writing within five (5) working days of hearing the grievance.

Step 4

The parties to this Agreement agree that if a grievance has been heard through all previous steps of the Grievance Procedure, that prior to proceeding to Arbitration, they may utilize the Mediation Services under Section 87 and/or 105 of the Labour Relations Code to attempt to resolve the matter.

Step 5

If a satisfactory settlement is not reached within fifteen (15) working days after the grievance was submitted under Step 3, or following Mediation, the matter may be referred by either party to the Board of Arbitration as set out in Article 12.

11.07 Policy Grievance

Where a dispute involving a question of general application or interpretation occurs, or where a group of employees or the Union has a grievance, Steps 1, 2 and 3 of this Article may be bypassed.

ARTICLE 12 - ARBITRATION

12.01 Composition of Board of Arbitration

A Board of Arbitration shall be formed to hear the grievance. Either party shall notify the other in writing of the question(s) to be arbitrated and the name and address of its chosen representative on the Arbitration Board. After receiving such notice and statement the other party shall, within five (5) days, appoint its representative on the Arbitration Board and give notice in writing of such appointment to the other party. Such representatives shall endeavour to select a third member who shall be Chairperson.

The parties may agree on the appointment of a single Arbitrator who shall then comprise the Arbitration Board.

12.02 Failure to Appoint

Should the representatives fail to select such a third member within five (5) days from the appointment of the last representative, either party may request the Minister of Labour of the Province of British Columbia to appoint a Chairperson.

12.03 Board Procedure

Within fourteen (14) days following the establishment of the Board of Arbitration, it shall report its decision on the grievance. The majority decision of the Board shall be final and binding on all persons bound by this Agreement but the Board shall not have the power to alter the wording of the Agreement in any way.

12.04 Decisions of the Board

When a settlement is reached at any stage of this procedure, such decision shall be final and binding on both parties.

12.05 Expenses of the Board

The expenses and compensation of the Chairperson shall be shared equally between the parties. The expenses and compensation of the representative selected shall be borne by the respective parties.

ARTICLE 13 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

13.01 <u>Discharge and Discipline Procedure</u>

An employee may be disciplined or discharged but only for just cause. Prior to the imposition of discipline or discharge, an employee shall be given the reason in the presence of their Steward or Union Representative. Such employee and the Union, shall be notified promptly in writing by the Employer with full disclosure of the reason for such discipline or discharge. Failure to conform with the requirements of this Clause shall render the discipline or discharge null and void.

13.02 May Omit Grievance Steps

An employee considered by the Union to be wrongfully or unjustly discharged or suspended shall be entitled to a hearing under Article 11, Grievance Procedure. Steps 1, 2 and 3 of the Grievance Procedure shall be omitted in such cases.

13.03 <u>Designation of Supervisor</u>

Every employee shall be notified of the name of their immediate designated Supervisor.

13.04 Crossing of Picket Lines During Strike

An employee covered by this Agreement shall have the right to refuse to cross a picket line or refuse to do the work of striking or locked out employees, or refuse to handle goods from an Employer where a strike or lockout is in effect. Failure to cross such a picket line or to perform the work of striking or locked out employees or to handle goods from an Employer where a strike or lockout is in effect by a member of this Union shall not be considered a violation of this Agreement, nor shall it be grounds for disciplinary action, other than loss of wages for the period involved.

13.05 Political Action

No employee shall be disciplined for participation in any political action(s) outside of working hours.

13.06 Right to Have Steward Present

An employee shall have the right to have their Steward present at any discussion with Supervisory personnel which the employee believes might be the basis of disciplinary

action. Where a Supervisor intends to interview an employee for disciplinary purposes, the Supervisor shall so notify the employee in advance of the purpose of the interview in order that the employee may contact their Steward to be present at the interview.

A Steward or Local Union Officer shall have the right to consult with a CUPE Staff Representative and to have them present at any discussion with Supervisory personnel which might be the basis of disciplinary action.

The above will not prevent the Supervisor from discussing matters with the employee if no immediate disciplinary action is intended.

13.07 Personnel Records

Any employee shall have the right at any time to have access to and review their personnel record.

Any disagreement as to the accuracy of information contained in the file may be subject to the Grievance Procedure and the eventual resolution thereof shall become part of the employee's record.

No evidence from the employee's record may be introduced as evidence in any hearing of which the employee was not aware at the time of filing.

An employee shall have the right to make copies of any material contained in their personnel record.

Where a reprimand is placed in the personnel file of an employee, the employee may elect to have the record of reprimand removed one (1) year after the filing, provided that no reprimand of a similar nature has been subsequently filed.

ARTICLE 14 - SENIORITY

14.01 Seniority Defined

- (a) Seniority is defined as the number of hours worked in the bargaining unit and shall include hours worked with the Employer prior to the certification or recognition of the Union. Seniority shall be used in determining preference or priority for promotion, transfer, demotion, lay-off, permanent reduction of the workforce, and recall, as set out in other provisions of this Agreement, provided the employee meets the qualifications of the position. Seniority shall operate on a bargaining-unit-wide basis and shall accrue on the basis of hours worked and as indicated in Article 1 (Definitions).
- (b) Employee(s) shall be given opportunity, in seniority order, to work additional regular straight-time hours which become available, provided no overtime costs are incurred by so doing.

14.02 Seniority List

The Employer shall maintain a seniority list showing the current position, the date upon which each employee's service commenced and the total hours worked. Where two (2) or more employees commence work on the same day, preference shall be determined by lot. An up-to-date seniority list shall be sent to the Union and posted on all bulletin boards in January of each year.

14.03 Probation for Newly Hired Employees

A newly hired employee shall be on probation only for the first sixty (60) working days of their employment. During the probation period, the employee shall be entitled to all rights and benefits of this Agreement. After completion of the probationary period, seniority shall be effective from the original date of employment.

Days are to be defined as a shift of two (2) hours or more.

In assessing the discharge of a probationary employee, an Arbitrator shall take into account whether the standards expected were reasonable, whether the employee was notified of them, and given a fair opportunity to demonstrate their ability, whether the employee was notified of deficiencies in their performance, and given an opportunity to correct them, and whether the Employer's assessment of the employee was fair and reasonable.

14.04 Loss of Seniority

- (a) An employee shall not lose seniority/length of service and shall continue to accrue seniority/length of service if they are absent from work because of sickness, disability, accident, pregnancy/parental leave to the Employer (as per Clause 24.08), approved leave of absence to take a course related to the employee's job, or Union leave.
- (b) An employee shall maintain but not accrue seniority/length of service/vacation entitlement if the employee is granted a leave of absence for up to four (4) months to work for another Employer or is on lay-off for up to and including twelve (12) months.
- (c) Employees shall only lose their seniority/length of service in the event:
 - 1. They are discharged for just cause and are not reinstated.
 - 2. They are on lay-off for a period in excess of twelve (12) months.
 - 3. They resign in writing.
 - 4. They retire.
 - 5. They take a leave of absence without prior approval.

- 6. A casual employee who is called for work four (4) times within a four (4) month period refuses or is unavailable, unless previously arranged.
- 7. An employee whose leave of absence to work for another Employer exceeds four (4) months.
- (d) Casual employees who refuse eight (8) call-ins or are not called in over a one (1) year period, unless previously arranged, shall be removed from the casual on-call roster.

14.05 <u>Transfer and Seniority Outside Bargaining Unit</u>

No employee shall be transferred to a position outside the bargaining unit without their consent. If an employee is transferred to a position outside of the bargaining unit, they shall retain their seniority accumulated up to the date of leaving the unit, but will not accumulate any further seniority. Such employee shall have the right to return to a position in the bargaining unit during their trial period, which shall be a maximum of sixty (60) working days. If an employee returns to the bargaining unit, they shall be placed in a job consistent with their seniority. Such return shall not result in the lay-off or bumping of an employee holding greater seniority.

ARTICLE 15 - PROMOTIONS AND STAFF CHANGES

15.01 Job Postings

When a new position is created, or when a vacancy of a temporary or permanent nature occurs, which shall include the resignation of an incumbent, either inside or outside the bargaining unit, the Employer shall immediately post notice of the position in the Employer's offices, locker rooms, shops, and on all bulletin boards for a minimum of one (1) week, so that all Members will know about the vacancy. However, vacancies arising from normal retirement shall be posted sixty (60) days prior to the employee's normal retirement date, with notification to the Union bargaining unit.

15.02 Information in Postings

Such notice shall contain the following information:

Nature of position, qualifications, required knowledge and education, skills, shift, number of hours of work per week, wage or salary rate or range. Such qualifications and requirements shall be those necessary to perform the job function and may not be established in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner.

15.03 No Outside Advertising

No outside advertisement for any vacancy shall be placed until the applications of present Union Members have been fully processed.

15.04 Role of Seniority in Promotions, Transfers and Staff Changes

Both parties recognize:

- (a) the principle of promotion within the service of the Employer;
- (b) that job opportunity should increase in proportion to length of service.

Therefore, in making staff changes, transfers, or promotions, appointment shall be made of the applicant with the greatest seniority and having the required qualifications, in accordance with Clause 15.02.

15.05 Trial Period

The successful applicant shall be notified within one (1) week following the end of the posting period. They shall be given a trial period of ninety (90) days, during which time they will receive the necessary training for the position. The Employer shall not curtail the trial period without just cause, before it has run its full course. Conditional on satisfactory service, the employee shall be declared permanent after the period of ninety (90) days. In the event the successful applicant proves unsatisfactory in the position during the trial period, or if the employee is unable or unwilling to continue to perform the duties of the new job classification, they shall be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority. Any other employee promoted or transferred because of the re-arrangement of positions shall also be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority.

ARTICLE 16 - LAY-OFFS AND RECALLS

16.01 Definition of Lay-off

A lay-off shall be defined as a reduction in the workforce or a reduction in the regular hours of work as defined in this Agreement.

16.02 Role of Seniority in Lay-offs

Both parties recognize that job security shall increase in proportion to length of service. Therefore, in the event of a lay-off, employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their bargaining-unit-wide seniority. An employee about to be laid off may bump any employee with less seniority, providing the employee exercising the right is qualified to perform the work of the employee with less seniority. The right to bump shall include the right to bump up.

16.03 Recall Procedure

Employees shall be recalled in the order of their seniority.

16.04 No New Employees

New employees shall not be hired until those laid off have been given an opportunity of recall.

16.05 Advance Notice of Lay-off

Unless legislation is more favourable to the employees, the Employer shall notify employees who are to be laid off twenty (20) calendar days prior to the effective date of lay-off. If the employee has not had the opportunity to work the days as provided in this Article, they shall be paid for the days for which work was not made available.

ARTICLE 17 - HOURS OF WORK

17.01 Hours of Work

(a) Pool/Arena Full-Time

- 1. The normal work week for a full-time employee shall be five (5) consecutive days, normally Monday to Friday. ("Normally" means except as operational requirements dictate weekend work from time to time.)
- 2. The normal work day for a full-time employee shall be eight (8) hours plus an unpaid meal period of one (1) hour within a span of nine (9) hours.
- 3. The normal work week for a full-time employee shall be forty (40) hours exclusive of meal periods.

(b) Arena Flexible Hours

Where mutually agreed, Arena employees may work four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour days with three (3) consecutive days off, which for overtime calculation purposes shall be considered to be in the same work week.

(c) Part-Time Employees

- 1. The normal work pattern for a part-time employee shall provide for at least two (2) consecutive days off unless mutually agreed otherwise.
- 2. Every attempt shall be made to schedule senior part-time employees' hours as consecutive hours of work each day.

(d) Paid Meal Break

An employee who is required to remain at the work site during their lunch break period shall be paid for that lunch break at straight time rates.

17.02 Minimum Hours

- (a) The minimum hours of work shall be two (2) consecutive hours.
- (b) Employees, who actually report for work on any work day and do not commence work, shall be paid for two (2) hours at their regular wage.
- (c) The guarantees set out in subsections (a) and (b) do not apply when an employee is unfit to work or fails to comply with the Workers' Compensation Act or applicable regulation(s).

The existing schedule and hours will be maintained subject to operational requirements.

17.03 Working Schedule

The hours and days of work of each employee shall be posted in an appropriate place at least two (2) weeks in advance. The Employer shall, after agreement with the Union, set forth the working schedule of the department.

17.04 Paid Rest Period

Employees shall be permitted a rest period of fifteen (15) consecutive minutes in both the first half (1/2) and the second half (1/2) of each scheduled work period in an area made available by the Employer.

17.05 Alternative Working Schedules

Working schedules deviating from those specified in the Agreement may be established with the mutual agreement of the Employer, the Union and the employee(s) affected. These may include traditional flex-time proposals, reduced work week, modified start time, etc., and shall be made in writing by the affected employee(s) with proposed schedules attached. Such proposals shall not be unreasonably denied if they meet the operating needs of the District and there are no costs associated with implementation.

ARTICLE 18 - OVERTIME

18.01 Overtime Defined

Overtime shall be as per the Employment Standards Act.

18.02 Supply of Meals and Meal Allowance

Should an employee be requested to work beyond ten (10) hours in a work day, time off for meals will be provided. The meals of a regular shift are the employee's responsibility. If overtime reflects an emergency, a meal would be provided by the Employer up to a value of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00).

18.03 Emergency Overtime

- (a) The employee may refuse to work overtime except in an emergency situation.
- (b) An emergency situation is defined as a sudden and unexpected turn of events calling on the municipality to take immediate action to prevent worsening of the situation, particularly where there is an immediate threat to life, health or property.

18.04 Notice of Overtime Worked

The Employer shall supply a listing of overtime and call-out hours to the Union Representative and Steward on a quarterly basis.

18.05 No Lay-Off to Compensate for Overtime

An employee shall not be required to lay-off during regular hours to equalize any overtime worked.

18.06 Sharing of Overtime

Wherever possible, overtime and call-back time shall be divided equally amongst employees who are willing and qualified to perform the available work.

18.07 Call-out

(a) <u>Emergency Call-out</u>

Employees called for emergency work prior to or after their regular shift or on a Saturday or Sunday shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at overtime rates, one and one-half times (1-1/2x) the regular rate. All hours worked beyond two (2) hours shall be paid at double (2x) the employees' hourly rate of pay.

(b) Shift Coverage

Employees called out on their regularly scheduled day(s) of rest shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours at the applicable rate(s) of pay.

18.08 Time Off in Lieu of Overtime

Instead of cash payment for overtime, an employee may choose to receive time off at the overtime rate at a time mutually agreed to. The maximum amount to be banked in any calendar year will be three (3) weeks of an employee's regularly scheduled hours.

ARTICLE 19 - GENERAL HOLIDAYS

19.01 General Holidays

(a) An employee working full-time shall receive their normal day's pay at their regular rate for each of the following General Holidays and any other holidays declared by the Federal or Provincial governments or the Employer.

New Year's Day Family Day (3rd Mon. in Feb.) Good Friday Easter Monday Victoria Day Canada Day BC Day (1st Mon. in Aug.) Labour Day
National Day for
Truth & Reconciliation
Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

Should a General Holiday fall on a Saturday and/or Sunday, the following Monday will be observed as the holiday. Consideration will be given to the Union for application of Friday in lieu of Monday observed as Statutory Holiday.

- (b) Regular part-time employees shall receive an additional five percent (5%) of each pay cheque in lieu of payment for General Holidays not worked.
- (c) When a General Holiday falls on a full-time employee's normal day off they shall have the option of receiving one (1) day off in lieu or pay. Employees scheduled to work on the General Holiday shall receive one (1) additional day's pay for such work.

19.02 Compensation for Paid Holiday Falling on Scheduled Day Off

When any of the above-noted paid holidays fall on an employee's day off, the employee shall receive one (1) day's pay or another day off with pay at a time designated by the employee.

19.03 Day Off in Lieu

(a) A regular full-time employee who is entitled to a General Holiday with pay which occurs on a normal working day for the employee shall be paid for the day.

If the full-time employee works on the General Holiday, the employee shall be given another day off in lieu with pay as well as being paid for all hours worked on the General Holiday at the rate of one and one-half times (1-1/2x) the employee's rate. If the day involved is Christmas Day or New Year's Day, the pay shall be two times (2x) the employee's rate of pay.

(b) If a part-time employee works on the General Holiday, the employee shall be paid for all hours worked on the General Holiday at the rate of one and one-half times (1-1/2x) the employee's rate. If the day involved is Christmas Day or New Year's Day, the pay shall be two times (2x) the employees' rate of pay.

ARTICLE 20 - VACATIONS

20.01 Annual Vacation Regular Employees

(a) Annual vacation for regular employees shall be:

During first (1^{st}) year to maximum of ten (10) working days of service – one (1) day per month – four percent (4%) vacation pay based on percentage of earnings.

During second (2nd) and third (3rd) years of service – sixteen (16) working days of vacation – six point four percent (6.4%) vacation pay based on percentage of earnings.

During fourth (4th) and fifth (5th) years of service – eighteen (18) working days of vacation – seven point two percent (7.2%) vacation pay based on percentage of earnings.

During sixth (6th) and seventh (7th) years of service – twenty (20) working days of vacation – eight percent (8%) vacation pay based on percentage of earnings.

During eighth (8^{th}) and ninth (9^{th}) years of service – twenty-two (22) working days of vacation – eight point eight percent (8.8%) vacation pay based on percentage of earnings.

During tenth (10th) through to the fourteenth (14th) inclusive years of service – twenty-four (24) working days of vacation – nine point six percent (9.6%) vacation pay based on percentage of earnings.

Fifteen (15) and over years of service – twenty-eight (28) working days of vacation – eleven point two percent (11.2%) vacation pay based on percentage of earnings.

- (b) Casual employees shall receive vacation pay based on percentage of earnings on each pay cheque as outlined in (a) above. Length of service shall be based on the employees' service date as indicated in Clause 1.06.
- (c) An employee who terminates with less than one (1) year's service shall be paid in accordance with the Annual Holidays Act of British Columbia.

(d) The carry-over of vacation shall be limited to a maximum of fifty percent (50%) of the earned annual vacation.

20.02 Annual Vacation Entitlement

Vacation entitlement shall be taken before December 31st of each year. All employees are encouraged to use their annual vacation entitlement in the year earned.

20.03 Calendar Year

For the purposes of this Agreement, the calendar year shall be January 1^{st} to December 31^{st} in each year inclusive.

20.04 Termination

For the purposes of this Agreement, employees are allowed to take vacation for the entitlement year, however, upon termination, any overpayment will be deducted from termination pay.

20.05 Scheduling of Vacations

Scheduling of vacations shall be granted on a seniority basis up through March 31st of each year, but thereafter vacations shall be granted on a "first come first served" basis, based on the date the application is received by the Employer. Vacation requests shall be completed on the form provided with a copy being returned to the employee stating acceptance or denial. Employees must schedule their vacation thirty (30) days prior to the date their vacation will commence. Insofar as possible, vacations shall be granted at times most desired by employees, but the final right of allotment of vacation period is reserved to the Employer in order to ensure official and orderly operations. Emergency situations will be seriously considered. An employee will be informed by their Supervisor in writing why their vacation is denied.

ARTICLE 21 - SICK LEAVE

21.01 Sick Leave Accumulation

- (a) For regular full-time employees, sick leave shall be earned at the rate of eight (8) hours for every month an employee is employed.
- (b) For regular part-time employees sick leave shall be earned at the rate of one (1) day for every month an employee is employed. The day shall mean the employee's daily hours or an average thereof.
- (c) Casual employees shall be entitled to five (5) paid sick days per calendar year. The day shall mean the employee's daily hours or an average thereof.

21.02 Proof of Illness

An employee may take sick leave up to two (2) consecutive days without providing a doctor's certificate. If an employee uses sick leave they must advise their immediate Supervisor before the shift starts. The Employer may request a certificate from the doctor in instances of repeated use of sick leave. Specific areas of concern may be reviewed by the Labour/Management Committee. The Employer agrees to pay for the cost of this certificate upon producing such when requested.

ARTICLE 22 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

22.01 Negotiation Pay Provisions

Representatives of the Union shall not suffer any loss of pay or benefits for total time involved in negotiations with the Employer.

22.02 Grievance and Arbitration and Mediation Pay Provisions

Representatives of the Union shall not suffer any loss of pay or benefits for the total time involved in Grievance and Arbitration and/or Mediation procedures.

22.03 Leave of Absence to Attend Union Business

An employee who has been selected or elected by the Union to attend Union business shall be granted a leave of absence without pay for this purpose if it does not interfere with Employer operations. No more than one (1) employee may take such leave and they must give the Employer a minimum of five (5) working days' notice in writing. This notice must be confirmed by the Union. Leave shall not exceed twenty-four (24) working days in total, for each calendar year.

22.04 <u>Leave of Absence for Full-Time Union or Public Duties</u>

- (a) The Employer recognizes the right of an employee to participate in public affairs. Therefore, upon written request, the Employer shall allow leave of absence without loss of benefits so that the employee may be a candidate in federal, provincial, or municipal elections.
- (b) An employee who is elected to public office shall be allowed leave of absence without loss of seniority during their first term of office.
- (c) An employee who is elected or selected for a full-time position with the Union, or anybody with which the Union is affiliated, shall be granted leave of absence without loss of seniority for a period of one (1) year.

22.05 Pay During Leave of Absence for Union Work or Convention

An employee shall receive the pay and benefits provided for in this Agreement when on unpaid leave of absence for Union work or conventions. However, the Union shall reimburse the Employer for all pay during the period of absence.

22.06 Bereavement Leave

- (a) In case of a death in the immediate family of an employee, on application to the Employer, the employee will be granted a leave of absence of three (3) days. If they attend the funeral of the deceased which is out-of-town an additional four (4) days leave of absence shall be granted [total of seven (7) days]. Such leave will be with pay. Part-time employees shall be compensated based on the regularly scheduled shifts.
- (b) Immediate family of the employee shall mean: mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, spouse (including common-law spouse), brother, sister, son, daughter, grandparents, grandchild, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, daughter-in law, son-in-law, or any relative living at the same residence as the employee.

22.07 Mourner's Leave

- (a) Employees shall be granted one (1) day leave with pay to attend the funeral of a member of the Union in the capacity of pallbearer.
- (b) Employees may be granted one (1) day leave with pay to attend the funeral of an employee, to a maximum of two (2) employees.

22.08 Length of Maternity Leave

- (a) Maternity leave shall cover a period up to one (1) year before and/or after the birth or adoption of a child. During this period, full seniority shall accumulate and all benefits shall be paid by the Employer.
- (b) Where a doctor's certificate is provided, stating that a longer period of maternity leave is required for health reasons, an extension up to a maximum of one (1) additional year shall be allowed. Seniority shall be frozen during this period.

Maternity and Parental Leave shall be in accordance with the Employment Standards Act.

22.09 Paid Jury or Court Witness Duty Leave

(a) All regular shift hours lost by an employee due to necessary attendance on jury duty or acting as a witness at any court proceeding arising out of their employment or subpoenaed as a witness, shall be paid for by the Employer at a rate of pay applicable to said employee and that any court or other reimbursement be credited to the Employer.

(b) An employee noted in (a) above will be allowed reasonable court preparation time and be provided local transportation if necessary.

22.10 General Leave

An employee shall be entitled to leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority, as enumerated in Clause 15.04. Such leave request must be for good and sufficient cause and shall be in writing and approved by the Employer. Such approval shall not be withheld without just cause.

22.11 Care of Immediate Family

Employees shall be entitled to a maximum of five (5) days per calendar year with pay, to be taken from the employees' sick leave, to care for the needs, during illness, of their immediate family defined as spouse, parents, child or ward of a legal guardian.

ARTICLE 23 - PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES

23.01 Pay Days

The Employer shall pay wages bi-weekly every second Friday in accordance with Schedule "A" attached hereto and forming part of this Agreement. On each pay day each employee shall be provided with an itemized statement of their wages, overtime, and other supplementary pay and deductions.

23.02 Rate of Pay on Promotion or Reclassification

- (a) An employee assigned, promoted or reclassified in accordance with this Collective Agreement to a higher paying position carrying a single rate of pay shall receive the rate of pay and benefits for that position for the time they perform that job.
- (b) A regular part-time employee temporarily assigned, promoted or reclassified to a full-time position in accordance with this Collective Agreement carrying a single rate of pay shall receive the rate of pay and ten percent (10%) in lieu of benefits for that position for the time the employee performs that job.

23.03 Pay on Temporary Transfer, Higher Rated Job

When an employee temporarily relieves in or performs the principal duties of a higher paying position at a flat rate of pay, they shall receive the rate for the job.

23.04 Vacation Pay

An employee may, upon giving at least two (2) weeks' notice, receive on the last office day preceding commencement of their annual vacation, any pay cheques which may fall during the period of vacation.

23.05 Severance Pay

Employees shall be entitled to receive severance pay in accordance with the following provisions for completed years of employment.

- (a) An employee who is terminated for cause shall not be paid severance pay.
- (b) On layoff, rejection on probation and nonculpable discharge, a permanent employee with one (1) or more years of continuous service shall receive severance pay in the amount of one (1) week of pay for each preceding complete year of employment to a maximum of ten (10) weeks, less any period in respect of which severance pay was previously paid.

ARTICLE 24 - JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RECLASSIFICATION

24.01 No Elimination of Present Classification

Existing classifications within the unit shall not be eliminated or changed without prior agreement with the Union.

24.02 Changes in Position

When the duties of any job are changed or increased or when the Union and/or an employee feels a job is unfairly or incorrectly classified or when a new job is created or established the rate of pay shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. If the parties are unable to agree on the reclassification and/or rate of pay for the job in question such dispute shall be submitted to Grievance and Arbitration for determination. The new rate shall become retroactive to the time the new position was first filled by the employee or the date of change in job duties.

24.03 Job Descriptions

The Employer agrees to draw up job descriptions for all positions for which the Union is bargaining agent and to prepare a new job description whenever a new job is created or whenever the duties of a job change significantly.

All job descriptions shall be presented to the Union for final agreement and shall become the recognized job descriptions and shall be an addendum to this Agreement. If such agreement on description cannot be resolved the issue may be subject to Grievance and Arbitration.

ARTICLE 25 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

25.01 Employee Benefits

Full-time regular employees will receive all benefits as follows:

Municipal Pension Plan

Employer and employee will be required to meet the requirement of the B.C. Municipal Pension Plan.

Medical

The Employer maintains one hundred percent (100%) liability for premiums.

Dental

The Employer maintains one hundred percent (100%) liability for premiums.

The Plan pays one hundred percent (100%) of eligible expenses for Basic Services such as extraction and fillings (Plan A). All teeth composite fillings permitted.

The Plan pays one hundred percent (100%) of eligible expenses for major services such as crowns, bridges and dentures (Plan B).

The Plan pays fifty percent (50%) of eligible expenses for Orthodontic Services for dependent children up to a lifetime maximum reimbursement of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) per dependent (Plan C).

Extended Health

The Employer maintains one hundred percent (100%) liability for premiums. The Plan pays eighty percent (80%) of eligible expenses after a twenty-five dollar (\$25.00) deductible per year. Lifetime maximum is one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000.00).

Vision care reimbursement up to three hundred dollars (\$300.00) per person in a two (2) year period.

Weekly Indemnity

The Employer maintains one hundred percent (100%) liability for premiums. An employee is entitled to a taxable benefit of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of weekly earnings to a maximum of eight hundred dollars (\$800.00) per week for up to fifty-two (52) weeks following the waiting period below:

- fourteen (14) days on the expiry of accumulated sick leave/injury
- fourteen (14) days on the expiry of accumulated sick leave/sickness

Group Life Insurance

The Employer maintains the life insurance with U.B.C.M. Group Benefits Plan at one hundred percent (100%) liability for premiums. The beneficiary receives a sum at equal to the annual earnings of the employee rounded to the next multiple of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) if not already a multiple of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) to a maximum of two hundred and fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000.00). Amounts of insurance over the non-evidence maximum of one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars (\$125,000.00) require evidence of an employee's good health before it becomes effective. The benefit payable reduces by fifty percent (50%) at age sixty-five (65). The Excess Life terminates at age sixty-five (65).

Accidental Death and Dismemberment

The Employer maintains the accidental death and dismemberment insurance with U.B.C.M. Group Benefits Plan at one hundred percent (100%) liability for premiums. The beneficiary receives a sum at equal to the annual earnings of the employee rounded to the next multiple of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) if not already a multiple of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) to a maximum of two hundred and fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000.00). The benefit payable reduces by fifty percent (50%) at age sixty-five (65). The Excess Accidental Death and Dismemberment terminates at age sixty-five (65).

If there is a change to these provisions by U.B.C.M., such changes shall be reflected in the Collective Agreement. The Union and the Employer shall discuss any proposed changes as soon as the Employer is made aware of them by U.B.C.M.

25.02 <u>Municipal Pension Plan</u>

Employees who are eligible, shall be covered by the provisions of the Pension (Municipal) Act.

The Municipal Pension Plan shall be in accordance with the Pension Act.

ARTICLE 26 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

26.01 Occupational Health & Safety

- (a) The parties agree to co-operate in the promotion of safe work habits and safe working conditions and to adhere to the provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act and the Industrial Health and Safety Regulations.
- (b) The bargaining unit shall have one (1) employee selected by the Union as a member of the Employer Occupational Health and Safety Committee. The Committee meets monthly unless there is an unusual, emergent situation.
- (c) The Union shall appoint one (1) member to the Occupational Health and Safety Committee.
- (d) A member of the Health and Safety Committee in conjunction with the Workers' Compensation Board shall have the right to stop any work considered unsafe or hazardous.

26.02 <u>Injury Pay Provision</u>

An employee injured at work and unable to continue shall be paid their regular rate of pay for the entire shift.

ARTICLE 27 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

27.01 <u>Union Notification of Changes</u>

A minimum of three (3) months before the introduction of any technological or other changes or methods of operation which affect the rights of employees, condition of employment, wage rates or work loads, the Employer shall notify the Union of the proposed change.

27.02 <u>Training Programs</u>

In the event that the Employer should introduce new methods or machines which require new or greater skills than are possessed by employees under the present method of operations, such employees shall, at the expense of the Employer, be given a maximum period not to exceed one (1) year during which they may perfect or acquire the skills necessitated by the new methods of operation. There shall be no change in wage rates during the training period of any such employee and no reduction in pay upon being reclassified in a new position.

The employee's progress is to be reviewed quarterly. Should it become evident the employee is unable to be successful at the training, the employee would be re-assigned within the Recreation Department. No employee who fails to complete retraining for technological change will be laid off.

27.03 Additional Training

Should the introduction of new methods of operation create a need for the perfection or acquisition of skills requiring a training period more than one (1) year, the additional training time shall be a subject of discussion between the Employer and the Union.

27.04 No New Employees

No additional employees shall be hired by the Employer until the employees already working shall be notified of the proposed technological changes and allowed a training period to acquire the necessary knowledge or skill for retraining under employment.

ARTICLE 28 - JOB SECURITY

28.01 Job Security

The parties agree no existing job will be lost or negatively affected during the terms of this Collective Agreement as a result of the Employer contracting out.

ARTICLE 29 - UNIFORM AND CLOTHING ALLOWANCE

29.01 Uniform and Clothing Allowance After Probation

- (a) The Employer shall supply, maintain and clean coveralls for arena employees.
- (b) The Employer shall pay annually one hundred and eighty dollars (\$180.00) to all employees required to wear safety footwear to perform maintenance duties. Receipts are not required for this payment and there will be no accumulation of the benefit.
- (c) The Employer shall pay annually, two hundred and twenty dollars (\$220.00) to regularly employed water safety/lifesaving instructors, and one hundred and five dollars (\$105.00) to regularly employed lifeguards. Receipts are not required for this payment and there will be no accumulation of the benefit.
- (d) The Employer shall pay annually, upon receiving receipts, up to fifty-five dollars (\$55.00) to casual pool employees in the above categories.
- (e) All of these monies may also be used for non-slip footwear.

ARTICLE 30 - GENERAL CONDITIONS

30.01 Bulletin Boards

The Employer shall provide bulletin boards which shall be placed so that all employees will have access to them and upon which the Union shall have the right to post notices of meetings and such other notices as may be of interest to the employees.

30.02 Licences and Certificates

The Employer shall pay the cost of maintaining licences and certificates needed by employees for job purposes.

An employee shall not suffer a loss of pay when attending an examination to renew a licence or certificate.

30.03 Employment Related Courses

Employees wishing reimbursement for costs incurred to take an employment related course must have approval from the Employer prior to commencing the course. To receive reimbursement the employee must agree to remain in the employ of the Employer for one (1) year after successfully completing the course.

30.04 Training Courses and Seminars

Employees required to attend training courses and seminars shall be reimbursed for outof-pocket expenses, receive a per diem for meals (as per Employer policy) and shall continue to receive their regular pay for time spent in the course/seminar.

ARTICLE 31 - PRESENT CONDITIONS AND BENEFITS

31.01 Present Conditions to Continue

All rights, benefits, privileges, practices and working conditions which employees now enjoy, receive or possess shall continue, insofar as they are consistent with this Agreement, unless modified by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union.

ARTICLE 32 - GENERAL

32.01 Plural or Feminine Terms May Apply

Whenever the singular, masculine or feminine is used in this Agreement, it shall be considered as if the plural, feminine or masculine has been used where the context of the party or parties hereto so required.

ARTICLE 33 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

33.01 Duration

The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding and remain in full force and effect from January 1^{st} , 2022 to December 31^{st} , 2024 and shall continue from year to year thereafter until a new Agreement is reached as provided for in the Statutes of the Province of British Columbia.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Corporate Seal of the District of Port Hardy has been hereunto affixed, attested by the hands of its proper Officers in that behalf and has been executed by the duly authorized Officers of the Union, the day and year first above written.

Signed this day of , 2022

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401:

Dennis Dugas, Mayor

Heather Nelson-Smith, CAO

Blaine Gurrie, President

Glen Catarata, 2nd V.P.

SCHEDULE "A"

1-Jan-22	1-Jan-23	1-Jan-24
2.5%	2.25%	2.25%
29.32	29.97	30.65
32.20	32.92	33.66
16.22	16.58	16.95
24.10	24.64	25.19
18.34	18.75	19.17
19.96	20.41	20.86
21.03	21.51	21.99
22.77	23.28	23.80
22.55	23.06	23.58
27.58	28.20	28.84
28.83	29.48	30.15
28.83	29.48	30.15
30.09	30.77	31.46
32.20	32.92	33.66
15.82	16.18	16.54
28.19	28.82	29.47
29.08	29.73	30.40
30.01	30.69	31.38
30.99	31.68	32.40
32.45	33.18	33.93
22.32	22.83	23.34
26.11	26.69	27.29
26.80	27.41	28.02
27.48	28.10	28.73
28.28	28.88	29.53
	2.5% 29.32 32.20 16.22 24.10 18.34 19.96 21.03 22.77 22.55 27.58 28.83 28.83 30.09 32.20 15.82 28.19 29.08 30.01 30.99 32.45 22.32 26.11 26.80 27.48	2.5% 2.25% 29.32 29.97 32.20 32.92 16.22 16.58 24.10 24.64 18.34 18.75 19.96 20.41 21.03 21.51 22.77 23.28 22.55 23.06 27.58 28.20 28.83 29.48 30.09 30.77 32.20 32.92 15.82 16.18 28.19 28.82 29.08 29.73 30.01 30.69 30.99 31.68 32.45 33.18 22.32 22.83 26.11 26.69 26.80 27.41 27.48 28.10

	1-Jan-22 2.5%	1-Jan-23 2.25%	1-Jan-24 2.25%
Finance/Administration Clerk 1	24.76	25.32	25.89
Finance/Administration Clerk 2	25.46	26.03	26.62
Finance/Administration Clerk 3	26.16	26.75	27.35
Finance/Administration Clerk 4	26.86	27.46	28.08
Finance/Administration Clerk 5	27.61	28.23	28.87
Casual Office Clerk 1	18.36	18.77	19.19
Casual Office Clerk 2	19.42	19.86	20.31
Casual Office Clerk 3	21.59	22.07	22.57
Casual Office Clerk 4	23.32	23.84	24.38
Casual Office Clerk 5	23.75	24.28	24.83
ESS (MOU)	1.50	1.53	1.57

Fitness Certification premium of one dollar (\$1.00) per hour will be paid when instructing a fitness class and providing proof of certification.

BETWEEN:

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 401

RE: ARTICLE 28 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The parties agree that the District of Port Hardy will provide to CUPE an up-to-date benefit book to aid in the preparation of this section of the contract.

Signed this day of Jow, 2022.

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401:

Dennis Dugas, Mayor

Heather Nelson-Smith, CAO

Glen Catarata, 2nd V.P.

Blaine Gurrie, President

BETWEEN:

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 401

RE: HEAD LIFE GUARD POSITION

The parties agree that upon the new pool facility opening, the parties shall meet to discuss the filling of this classification.

Signed this ________, 2022.

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401:

Dennis Dugas, Mayor

Heather Nelson-Smith, CAO

Glen Catarata, 2nd V.P.

Blaine Gurrie, President

BETWEEN:

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 401

RE: LONG-TERM DISABILITY (LTD)

The Employer shall continue to pay their portion of the premiums as set out within the Agreement.

In order to ensure that this plan is a non-taxable benefit for employees and provided that Revenue Canada's interpretation of the tax rules permits this approach, the Employer shall increase the gross pay received by eligible employees by the amount of the Employer's share of the LTD premium, after which the Employer shall deduct one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of LTD premiums from employees' pay. If Revenue Canada's interpretation of the tax rules does not permit this approach, the current method of LTD premium payment shall continue to apply.

Signed this day of , 2022

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401:

Dennis Dugas, Mayor

Heather Nelson-Smith CAO

Blaine Gurrie, President

Glen Catarata, 2nd V.P.

BETWEEN:

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 401

RE: EMPLOYEE AND FAMILY ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EFAP)

The Parties agree to jointly review the current mental health benefits provided by the District and any additional benefits that may be useful to the members of the bargaining unit. Any amendments to the existing or new EFAP program require mutual agreement of such.

CUPE Local 401 commits to paying fifty percent (50%) of the premiums of such a program, when provided an accounting and invoice for the full premiums paid. Such payments will be issued within thirty (30) business days' receipt of the billing. The Parties agree the maximum payable by the District will be two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) per calendar year.

Both Parties support the goal of implementing or expanding a supportive EFAP program within the 2022 calendar year.

Signed this ______, 2022

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401:

Dennis Dugas, Mayor

Heather Nelson-Smith CAO

Blaine Gurrie, President

Glen Catarata, 2nd V.P.

BETWEEN:

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 401

RE: JOB DESCRIPTION REVIEW

The Parties agree to jointly undertake to review and update all bargaining unit job descriptions including those in administration and facilities during the term of the Collective Agreement.

All changes must be jointly agreed, however the Parties agree that in the event no agreement can be reached, Management, under Article 2, has the right to manage the operation and direct the workforce and the Union may pursue a grievance.

The Parties agree further that day-to-day work assignments fall within the Employer's right to manage and the principle of "work now, grieve later" shall apply with the exception of unsafe or illegal work directions.

Signed this day of	, 2022.
THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY:	CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401:
	38
Dennis Dugas, Mayor /	Blaine Gurrie, President
D. Whoh Sorryo	
Heather Nelson-Smith, CAO	Glen Catarata, 2 nd V.P.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 1

BETWEEN:

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 401

RE: VARIATION OF CERTIFICATION TO INCLUDE ADMINISTRATION EMPLOYEES

This LOA clarifies how the inclusion of administration employees in the Union's certification shall be implemented.

The incumbents shall henceforth be governed by the Collective Agreement in all respects, with the following clarifications:

- 1. Article 1.01 (definitions): The two (2) incumbents shall be classified as regular full-time employees. Their specific hours of work are outlined un paragraph 6 (Article 18) in this LOA.
- 2. Article 1.04 (probation period): Given the incumbents' long service they shall not be required to perform a probation period.
- 3. Article 1.06 (seniority date): The incumbents shall be given seniority dates as follows:

a. Susan Bjarnason

January 21, 1998

b. Tracy Kozak

February 7, 2017

4. Article 3.02 (Work of the Bargaining): Any increase in supervisors performing bargaining unit duties must be agreed by the Parties in writing effective the date of the Union's varied certification. The District has informed the Union that the CAO's Confidential Secretary occasionally provides short-term coverage for reception duties. The Confidential Secretary has historically been the second backfill; however, the District is amending that to make her the third backfill. The District has adjusted the working hours of Ms. Kozak to eight (8) hours. This will reduce the frequency of the Confidential Secretary providing backfill and no bargaining unit employee shall lose hours or pay because of the agreement.

- 5. Article 16.02 (Role of Seniority in Lay-offs [Bumping]): The Parties have agreed to a bumping freeze for the two (2) incumbents for a period of two (2) years from the date of signing this LOA. During this period, no employee may bump either of the two (2) incumbents, nor may they bump any other employee in the event of a lay-off.
- 6. Article 17.01 (Hours of Work): The Parties have agreed to maintain the status quo of daily and weekly hours for the two (2) incumbents. Their hours of work shall remain:
 - a. Susan Bjarnason Monday to Friday, 8:30 am to 4:30 pm (1 hour unpaid lunch).
 - i. Currently Ms. Bjarnason is working eight (8) hours per day. The District is reviewing that schedule and if a change is required from that review, the Parties will discuss it at the next round of collective bargaining.
 - b. Tracy Kozak Monday to Friday, 9:00 am to 4:00 pm (no lunch break by mutual agreement).
 - i. If requested by the District, with adequate notice, Ms. Kozak may provide additional coverage or perform extra duties.
 - c. All hours are straight time unless in excess of forty (40) hours in a week or eight (8) hours in a day.
- 7. Article 20.01 (Annual Vacation Regular Employees): Given Ms. Bjarnason's years of service, the Parties agree she will be entitled to a vacation entitlement increase to thirty (30) days, effective in her twenty-fifth (25th) year of service.
- 8. Schedule A (wage rate): The incumbents' rates are as follows:

a. Susan Bjarnason \$26.41 (plus \$1.50 ESSD pay)

b. Tracy Kozak \$24.97

All rates will be increased by two percent (2%) retroactive to January 1, 2021 as per the Collective Agreement.

- 9. Job Descriptions The Parties shall review and amend as required, the incumbents' job descriptions. Once completed, they shall be attached to this LOA as Appendix A.
- 10. Emergency Support Service Director Susan Bjarnason. This role is a volunteer duty attached to this incumbent. She receives and additional hourly supplement as per the agreement between CUPE Local 401 and the District of Port Hardy for

performing this service on all hours worked. The Parties will draft a separate agreement for this role which will include how hours outside of work are compensated, including banked time maximums and allocations.

Should Ms. Bjarnason no longer perform this duty, the Parties will discuss how to provide this service going forward. It does not form part of the position job description.

During the next round of bargaining, the District and the Union shall determine how to incorporate any changes to the Collective Agreement.

Signed this ______, 2022.

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401:

Dennis Dugas, Mayor

Heather Nelson-Smith, CAO

Blaine Gurrie, President

Glen Catarata, 2nd V.P.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 2

BETWEEN:

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY

AND

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 401

RE: ESS DIRECTOR

WHEREAS the District and the ESS Director entered into an agreement to provide ESS Director Services to the District of Port Hardy in mid-2020,

AND WHEREAS this position is performed by a volunteer, the District has included this in the Finance/Administration Clerk job duties as the ESS Director had shown interest in the position and the District wanted to ensure continuity and support,

AND WHEREAS the office administration staff have recently joined CUPE Local 401, the provision of the ESS Director service shall only pertain to this said employee,

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the covenants and agreements as hereinafter set forth, the Parties hereto agree as follows:

1.0 TERM

1.1 The term of this position shall run from the date undersigned until it is no longer required or either Party wish to cease the provisions of this service.

2.0 CONDITIONS

2.1 Role of the ESS Director

The emergency management structure, as it applies to ESS, can be broken down into two (2) primary functions – planning and response. The ESS Director who is appointed by the District of Port Hardy, plays an important role in planning and managing ESS in the District. As a critical component of the local authority's emergency management program, ESS play an important role in:

- Assisting people to remain independent and self-sufficient,
- Assisting people to meet their basic survival needs during a disaster,
- Reuniting families separated by disaster,
- Providing people with accurate and up-to-date information about the situation at hand,
- Assisting people to re-establish themselves as quickly as possible after a disaster.

2.2 Responsibilities

Reporting to the Director of Corporate and Development Services and liaising with the Emergency Planning Coordinator, the ESS Director shall be responsible for the following:

- Being available, including after office hours, (except during vacations or leaves of absence) for callouts, related to the set up and delivery of a reception centre for support of individuals due to emergency displacement. This includes mobile reception centre services for those displaced families that can be placed quickly into lodging such as a house fire.
- Ongoing support during the ESS operational period.
- Recruitment of volunteers.
- Assisting with training of volunteers.
- Attending Emergency Planning Committee meetings.

2.3 Remuneration

- Compensation for this position shall result in a one dollar (\$1.00) additional wage to supplement the Finance Administration Clerk position as follows:
- 2022 one dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) which includes the addition of the wage increases as negotiated with CUPE Local 401, *unless mutually agreed otherwise by the Parties*.
- Callouts shall be compensated at regular rates.
- ESS hours may be banked to a maximum total bank amount of thirty-five (35) hours. Hours exceeding thirty-five (35) hours in the bank shall be paid out at regular time as soon as practicable through the Finance Department.
- Banked time is to be taken within the calendar year that it is accrued and can not be carried forward per District Policy 5.2.

3.0 INSURANCE

3.1 The District will provide liability and WorkSafeBC coverage for training and non-event related activities. EMBC shall cover the ESS Director during events.

Signed this $\underline{\underline{\qquad}}$ day of $\underline{\underline{\qquad}}$, 2022.

THE DISTRICT OF PORT HARDY:

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES - LOCAL 401:

Dennis Dugas, Mayor

Heather Nelson-Smith, CAO

Blaing Gurrie, President

Glen Catarata, 2nd V.P.

<u>JOB DESCRIPTION – AQUATIC LEADER 3</u>

(Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Reports to the Chief Administrative Officer, or their designate. The incumbent in this position performs duties related to the supervision and operation of the indoor aquatic centre and works in accordance with practices and procedures as established from time to time.

The Aquatic Leader will exercise considerable initiative and judgment in programming, establishing work methods and planning tasks. This is a supervisor position of aquatic facility personnel and oversees all aquatic activities.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Works with the Chief Administrative Officer in developing and promoting a comprehensive aquatics program.
- 2. Requests supplies, schedules staff, arranges sick coverage, prepares accident reports, organizes special events, answers complaints and trains staff as required.
- 3. Ensures high standards of facility cleanliness and that all relevant health and safety standards and District policies are maintained.
- 4. Assists in the preparation of the swimming pool's operating and capital budgets.
- 5. Ensures that a high standard of facility programming, public relations, staff development and public safety are maintained.
- 6. Works closely with the Recreation Facilities Foreman to ensure a high standard of water quality, cleanliness and mechanical operations are achieved.
- 7. Maintains accurate records and provides reports as required.
- 8. Attends all courses and training sessions as required.
- 9. Performs related work as required.
- 10. Teaching and guarding as needed.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES & SKILLS

- 1. Proven skill in group leadership, public relations and communications.
- 2. Ability to supervise staff and programs.
- 3. Ability to identify unsafe situations in assigned areas and to apply preventative measures.
- 4. Ability to complete necessary reports and records.
- 5. Skills in lifeguarding, first aid, instruction at an advanced level.
- 6. Ability to exercise courtesy, tact and diplomacy when handling complaints and enquiries from the general public.
- 7. Ability to maintain harmonious relationships with any and all facility patrons and other staff members.

QUALIFICATIONS, EDUCATION AND TRAINING

- One year supervisory experience
- National Lifeguard Certification
- CPR "C"
- Red Cross Water Safety Instructor Training
- Royal Lifesaving Society Instructor
- First Aid Certification
- Pool Operator Level I
- Valid B.C. Driver's Licence

JOB DESCRIPTION - AQUATIC COORDINATOR

(Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Reports to the Chief Administrative Officer, or their designate. The incumbent in this position performs duties related to the supervision and operation of the indoor aquatic centre and works in accordance with practices and procedures as established from time to time.

The Aquatic Coordinator will exercise considerable initiative and judgment in programming, establishing work methods and planning tasks. This is a supervisor position of aquatic facility personnel and oversees all aquatic activities.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Works with the Chief Administrative Officer in developing and promoting a comprehensive aquatics program.
- 2. Requests supplies, schedules staff, arranges sick coverage, prepares accident reports, organizes special events, answers complaints and trains staff as required.
- 3. Ensures high standards of facility cleanliness and that all relevant health and safety standards and District policies are maintained.
- 4. Assists in the preparation of the swimming pool's operating and capital budgets.
- 5. Ensures that a high standard of facility programming, public relations, staff development and public safety are maintained.
- 6. Works closely with the Recreation Facilities Foreman to ensure a high standard of water quality, cleanliness and mechanical operations are achieved.
- 7. Maintains accurate records and provides reports as required.
- 8. Attends all courses and training sessions as required.
- 9. Performs related work as required.
- 10. Teaching and guarding as needed.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES & SKILLS

- 1. Proven skill in group leadership, public relations and communications.
- 2. Ability to supervise staff and programs.
- 3. Ability to identify unsafe situations in assigned areas and to apply preventative measures.
- 4. Ability to complete necessary reports and records.
- 5. Skills in life guarding, first aid, instruction at an advanced level.
- 6. Ability to exercise courtesy, tact and diplomacy when handling complaints and enquiries from the general public.
- 7. Ability to maintain harmonious relationships with any and all facility patrons and other staff members.

QUALIFICATIONS, EDUCATION AND TRAINING

- One year supervisory experience
- National Lifeguard Certification
- Standard First Aid CPR "C" and AED
- Red Cross Water Safety Instructor Training
- Lifesaving Instructor
- First Aid & CPR Instructor
- Pool Operator Level I & 2
- Valid B.C. Driver's Licence

Minimum of two (2) years service in an AQUATIC LEADER 3 position.

JOB DESCRIPTION - CASHIER

(Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Reports to the Chief Administrative Officer, or their designate. An employee in this position is responsible for collecting money for patron admissions for a variety of recreation and leisure activities, issuing receipts, completing daily cash reports, and answering public inquiries regarding recreation programs and schedules.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Collects money for admissions to a variety of recreation and leisure activities.
- 2. Performs routine administrative duties including maintenance, program registration records, booking facility rentals, and maintaining records of facility usage and sales.
- 3. Issues receipts for monies received.
- 4. Completes daily cash reports as required.
- 5. Secures cash in designated secure storage.
- 6. Responds to emergency situations as directed.
- 7. Answers enquiries from the general public regarding event schedules and programs. Refers unusual problems, complaints, or enquiries to the Aquatic Coordinator.
- 8. Completes janitorial and custodial duties to required standards.
- 9. Performs related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES AND SKILLS

- 1. A demonstrated ability to make change, operate a cash register, and complete accurate cash reports.
- 2. Ability to exercise courtesy, tact and diplomacy when dealing with the public and coworkers.
- 3. Knowledge of recreation programs pertinent to work venue.

JOB DESCRIPTION - HEAD LIFEGUARD/INSTRUCTOR

(Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Reports to the Chief Administrative Officer, or their designate. An employee in this position performs highly skilled lifeguarding, instructional and supervisory work of a relatively complex nature. Work involves the provision of moderate supervision of lifeguards, moderate supervision of cashiers, and overseeing all pool activities.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Assists the Recreation Director or designate in developing and promoting an overall swimming program.
- 2. Requests supplies, schedules staff, arranges sick coverage for staff, prepares accident reports, organizes special events, answers complaints, trains staff as required.
- 3. Lifeguards and instructs classes as approved by the manager.
- 4. Ensures high standards of cleanliness and maintenance of equipment in the facility.
- 5. Ensures that all relevant health and safety standards and District policies are maintained.
- 6. Performs routine cashier duties as required.
- 7. Performs related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES, AND SKILLS

- 1. Thorough knowledge of all aspects of swimming techniques, swimming instructors, water safety, first aid, and the safe operations of pool chlorination and filtration equipment.
- 2. Ability to supervise pool staff.
- 3. Ability to exercise courtesy, tact, diplomacy and some persuasion when handling complaints and enquiries from the general public.

- 4. The ability to maintain records, and prepare reports and other correspondence.
- 5. The ability to maintain harmonious relationships with any and all facility patrons and other staff members.
- 6. Physical ability and agility to complete duties requiring physical effort.

PREFERRED TRAINING, EXPERIENCE, MEMBERSHIPS, ETC.

- 1. Minimum of two (2) years lifeguarding and instructor experience.
- 2. Red Cross Standard First Aid Certificate or equivalent.
- 3. NLS Instructor, AEC Instructor, CPR Instructor, Lifesaving Instructor Trainer, and Red Cross Water Safety Instructor Training Award.
- 4. Completion of Grade 12 education.
- 5. Recreation courses specializing in the area of Administration Management, Marketing or Programming are helpful, but not required.
- 6. Pool Operator Level II Certificate.

REQUIRED LICENCES, CERTIFICATES, ETC.

- Must meet the Provincial Health Act requirements.
- National Lifequard Service Award.
- Water Safety Instructor.
- Life Saving Instructor.
- CPR Award (Level "C" or Instructor).
- BCRPA Pool Operator's Level I Certificate or equivalent training and experience.

<u>JOB DESCRIPTION – LIFEGUARDS</u>

(Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Under the supervision of the Head Lifeguard/Instructor/Aquatic Coordinator, an employee in this position performs a variety of general and specific duties to ensure the safety, protection, and enjoyment of those engaged in activities in or out of the water at the Port Hardy Aquatic Centre. Involves responsibility for supervision and control of activities, safety standards in accordance with prescribed standards, and maintenance of appropriate standards of safety, cleanliness and hygiene of the facility, equipment, staff and public.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Acts as a lifeguard.
- 2. Promotes and practices good relationships with interest groups and the public, and assists with special events.
- 3. Ensures safety, hygiene and cleanliness standards and practices are maintained.
- 4. Monitors aquatic activities and ensures adherence to rules and safety regulation, including crowd control, regulation of attendance, etc.
- 5. Conducts basic water tests.
- 6. Performs minor maintenance tasks.
- 7. Inspects pool for public safety and performs custodial duties as required.
- 8. Supervises issuance, use, care, and maintenance of aquatic supplies and equipment including first aid and safety supplies.
- 9. Administers first aid and/or resuscitation as required.
- 10. Assists in emergency procedures as required.
- 11. Registers applicants for aquatic programs.
- 12. Other related duties as may be assigned from time to time.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES AND SKILLS

- 1. Thorough knowledge of all aspects of water safety, first aid, and in the safe operations of pool chlorination and filtration equipment.
- 2. Ability to exercise courtesy, tact, and diplomacy and some persuasion when handling complaints and enquiries from the general public.
- 3. The ability to maintain harmonious relationships with any and all facility patrons and other staff members.
- 4. Physical ability and agility to complete duties requiring physical effort.
- 5. Ability to work in an independent and responsible manner with a minimum of supervision.

QUALIFICATIONS

LIFEGUARD 1:

- Bronze Cross
- Standard First Aid and C.P.R. "C" with AED

LIFEGUARD 2:

- N.L.S.
- Standard First Aid and C.P.R. "C" with AED

JOB DESCRIPTION - LIFEGUARD/INSTRUCTORS

(Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Under the supervision of the Head Lifeguard/Instructor/Aquatic Coordinator, an employee in this position performs a variety of general and specific duties to ensure the safety, protection, instruction, and enjoyment of those engaged in activities in or out of the water at the Port Hardy Aquatic Centre. Involves responsibility for supervision and control of activities, safety standards in accordance with prescribed standards, and maintenance of appropriate standards of safety, cleanliness and hygiene of the facility, equipment, staff and public.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Acts as a lifeguard.
- 2. Promotes and practices good relationships with interest groups and the public, and assists with special events.
- 3. Ensures safety, hygiene and cleanliness standards and practices are maintained.
- 4. Monitors aquatic activities and ensures adherence to rules and safety regulation, including crowd control, regulation of attendance, etc.
- 5. Conducts basic water tests.
- 6. Performs minor maintenance tasks.
- 7. Inspects pool for public safety and performs custodial duties as required.
- 8. Supervises issuance, use, care, and maintenance of aquatic supplies and equipment including first aid and safety supplies.
- 9. Administers first aid and/or resuscitation as required.
- 10. Assists in emergency procedures as required.
- 11. Registers applicants for aquatic programs.
- 12. Other related duties as may be assigned from time to time.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES AND SKILLS

- 1. Thorough knowledge of all aspects of water safety, first aid, and in the safe operations of pool chlorination and filtration equipment.
- 2. Ability to exercise courtesy, tact, and diplomacy and some persuasion when handling complaints and enquiries from the general public.
- 3. The ability to maintain harmonious relationships with any and all facility patrons and other staff members.
- 4. Physical ability and agility to complete duties requiring physical effort.
- 5. Ability to work in an independent and responsible manner with a minimum of supervision.

QUALIFICATIONS

LIFEGUARD/INSTRUCTOR 1:

- N.L.S.
- Standard First Aid with C.P.R. "C" and AED
- Water Safety Instructor

LIFEGUARD/INSTRUCTOR 2:

- N.L.S.
- Standard First Aid and C.P.R. "C" with AED
- Water Safety Instructor
- Life Saving Instructor

JOB DESCRIPTION - RECREATION FACILITIES ATTENDANT

(Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Under the supervision of the Recreation Facilities Foreman, or their designate, the incumbent in this position performs duties related to the maintenance and operations of the recreation facilities and District office and works in accordance with practices and procedures established from time to time.

This is a semi-skilled, technical, building service and maintenance position.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Makes and maintains ice surfaces to required standards, and operates all ice resurfacing and associated equipment at the arena.
- 2. Operates and maintains mechanical systems at the recreation facilities as required.
- 3. Performs a variety of building and equipment maintenance tasks at the arena, aquatic centre, and District office as required.
- 4. Promotes the goals and philosophies of the Recreation Department and all associated programs and personnel concerned with the delivery of recreation services, and fulfills a public relations role at all times.
- 5. Complete daily work performance records and other reports as required.
- 6. Enforces rules and regulations as may be established from time to time regarding the use of recreation facilities and associated equipment.
- 7. Completes janitorial and custodial duties to required standards for cleanliness, for the safety and comfort of facility patrons.
- 8. Attends all courses and training sessions as required.
- 9. Performs routine cashier duties as required.
- 10. Performs related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES AND SKILLS

- 1. Skill in the use and care of a variety of tools and equipment used in ice making, refrigeration, swimming pool operations, and building and equipment maintenance.
- 2. The ability to perform building maintenance and repair, and custodial duties to required standards.
- 3. The ability to maintain harmonious relationships with any and all facility patrons, and other staff members.
- 4. The ability to complete duties in a safe manner, following established safety rules and regulations.
- 5. Skill in public relations and written and oral communications.
- 6. The ability to work with minimal supervision.
- 7. The ability to perform the duties outlined as required.
- 8. A valid B.C. Driver's License.
- 9. Completion of Grade 12 education OR a combination of education and relevant experience.
- 10. Physical agility and the ability to complete duties requiring physical effort.

QUALIFICATIONS

LEVEL I:

B.C. Provincial Refrigeration Operators Certificate

LEVEL II:

- One (1) year experience + B.C. Provincial Refrigeration Operators Certificate or equivalent

LEVEL III:

- Two (2) years experience + B.C. Provincial Refrigeration Operators Certificate + Pool Operators Certificate or equivalent

<u>JOB DESCRIPTION – RECREATION FACILITIES LEAD HAND 1 & 2</u> (Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Reports to the Chief Administrative Officer, or their designate. The incumbent in this position performs duties related to the maintenance and operations of the recreation facilities and District Office, and works in accordance with practices and procedures established from time to time.

The Recreation Facilities Lead Hand will exercise considerable independent initiative and judgment in defining problem areas, establishing work methods and planning tasks. This position will involve supervision of other employees in the arena and maintenance areas.

This is a semi-skilled, technical, building service and maintenance position.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Makes and maintains ice surfaces to required standards, and operates all ice resurfacing and associated equipment at the arena.
- 2. Operates and maintains mechanical systems at the recreation facilities as required and ensures an effective preventative maintenance program is followed.
- 3. Performs a variety of building and equipment maintenance tasks at the recreation facilities, and District office as required.
- 4. Promotes the goals and philosophies of the Recreation Department and all associated programs or personnel concerned with the delivery of recreation services, and fulfills a public relations role at all times.
- 5. Completes daily work performance records and other reports as required.
- 6. Enforces rules and regulations as may be established from time to time regarding the use of recreation facilities and associated equipment.
- 7. Completes janitorial and custodial duties to required standards for cleanliness, for the safety and comfort of facility patrons.
- 8. Attends all courses and training sessions as required.

- 9. Performs routine cashier duties as required.
- 10. Controls effective and efficient scheduling of arena and maintenance staff to meet facility requirements.
- 11. Assists in the preparation of arena and maintenance related budgets.
- 12. Ensures expenditures are within budget goals and that purchasing is effective.
- 13. Performs related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES & SKILLS

- 1. Skill in the use and care of a variety of tools and equipment used in ice making, refrigeration, swimming pool operations, and building and equipment maintenance.
- 2. The ability to perform building maintenance and repairs, and custodial duties to required standards.
- 3. The ability to maintain harmonious relationships with any and all facility patrons, and other staff members.
- 4. The ability to complete duties in a safe manner, following established safety rules and regulation.
- 5. Skill in public relations and written and oral communications.
- 6. The ability to work with minimal supervision.
- 7. The ability to perform the duties outlined as required.
- 8. A valid B.C. Driver's Licence.
- 9. Completion of Grade 12 education OR a combination of education and relevant experience.
- 10. Physical agility and the ability to complete duties requiring physical effort.
- 11. Ability to communicate with, instruct, and supervise other employees.

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS

LEVEL 1

- B.C.R.P.A. Pool Operators Level I
- B.C. Provincial Refrigeration Operators Certificate
- Three (3) years experience in recreation facility maintenance
- Provincial boiler certification

LEVEL II

- R.F.A.B.C. Icemakers Certificate
- B.C.R.P.A. Pool Operators Level I and II
- B.C. Provincial Refrigeration Operators Certificate
- Three (3) years experience in recreation facility maintenance
- Provincial boiler certification

<u>JOB DESCRIPTION – RECREATION FACILITIES FOREMAN</u> (Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Reports to the Chief Administrative Officer, or their designate. The incumbent in this position performs duties related to the maintenance and operations of the recreation facilities and District Office, and works in accordance with practices and procedures established from time to time.

The Recreation Facilities Foreman will exercise considerable independent initiative and judgment in defining problem areas, establishing work methods and planning tasks. This position will involve supervision of other employees in the arena and maintenance areas.

This is a semi-skilled, technical, building service and maintenance position.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Makes and maintains ice surfaces to required standards, and operates all ice resurfacing and associated equipment at the arena.
- 2. Operates and maintains mechanical systems at the recreation facilities as required and ensures an effective preventative maintenance program is followed.
- 3. Performs a variety of building and equipment maintenance tasks at the recreation facilities, and District office as required.
- 4. Promotes the goals and philosophies of the Recreation Department and all associated programs or personnel concerned with the delivery of recreation services, and fulfills a public relations role at all times.
- 5. Completes daily work performance records and other reports as required.
- 6. Enforces rules and regulations as may be established from time to time regarding the use of recreation facilities and associated equipment.
- 7. Completes janitorial and custodial duties to required standards for cleanliness, for the safety and comfort of facility patrons.
- 8. Attends all courses and training sessions as required.

- 9. Performs routine cashier duties as required.
- 10. Controls effective and efficient scheduling of arena and maintenance staff to meet facility requirements.
- 11. Assists in the preparation of arena and maintenance related budgets.
- 12. Ensures expenditures are within budget goals and that purchasing is effective.
- 13. Performs related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES & SKILLS

- 1. Skill in the use and care of a variety of tools and equipment used in ice making, refrigeration, swimming pool operations, and building and equipment maintenance.
- 2. The ability to perform building maintenance and repairs, and custodial duties to required standards.
- 3. The ability to maintain harmonious relationships with any and all facility patrons, and other staff members.
- 4. The ability to complete duties in a safe manner, following established safety rules and regulations.
- 5. Skill in public relations and written and oral communications.
- 6. The ability to work with minimal supervision.
- 7. The ability to perform the duties outlined as required.
- 8. A valid B.C. Driver's Licence.
- 9. Completion of Grade 12 education OR a combination of education and relevant experience.
- 10. Physical agility and the ability to complete duties requiring physical effort.
- 11. Ability to communicate with, instruct, and supervise other employees.

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS

- R.F.A.B.C. Icemakers Certificate
- B.C.R.P.A. Pool Operators Level I and II
- B.C. Provincial Refrigeration Operators Certificate
- Three (3) years experience in recreation facility maintenance
- Provincial boiler certification

Minimum of two (2) years service in a RECREATION FACILITIES LEAD HAND 2 position.

JOB DESCRIPTION - SKATE PATROLLERS/PROGRAM ASSISTANT

(Effective January 1, 2010)

DESCRIPTION

Reports to the Recreation Facilities Foreman, or their designate. The incumbent in this position is responsible for supervising public skate sessions and other associated responsibilities.

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES PERFORMED

- 1. Maintains a controlled, safe and enjoyable environment for all skaters.
- 2. Promotes the goals and philosophies of the Recreation Department and all associated programs or personnel concerned with the delivery of recreation services, and fulfills a public relations role at all times.
- 3. Enforces rules and regulations as may be established from time to time regarding the use of recreation facilities and associated equipment.
- 4. Completes janitorial and custodial duties to required standards for cleanliness, for the safety and comfort of facility patrons.
- 5. Performs routine cashier duties as required.
- 6. Performs related work as required.

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE, ABILITIES AND SKILLS

- Must be able to skate.
- 2. Must be a responsible person capable of supervising open skating activity.

cope491